# Metro North Hospital and Health Board

# Safety and Quality Committee Terms of Reference

# 1. Purpose

The purpose of the Metro North Hospital and Health Board (the Board) Safety and Quality Committee (the Committee) is to provide independent assurance and assistance to the Board on:

- the Service's Quality Improvement Strategy
- the Service's Workplace Health and Safety Plan.

The Committee has an oversight role and does not replace management's primary responsibilities for the management of safety and quality, or governance of the service generally.

The Committee will provide prompt and constructive reports on its findings directly to the board highlighting issues it considers are not being adequately addressed by management. The minutes of the Committee's meetings will be promptly provided to the Board.

# 2. Authority

The Committee is a prescribed committee under the Hospital and Health Boards Regulation 2012:

- · the Committee reports to the Board
- the terms of reference are approved by the Board
- the Board has authorised the Committee, within the scope of its responsibilities, to
  - o examine any matter in relation to its objectives as it sees fit or as requested by the Board
  - engage external resources if necessary to obtain independent advice in relation to Committee matters with the approval of the Board
  - o have access to all levels of management via the Health Service Chief Executive (HSCE) in order to seek information from any employee to assist in carrying out the Committee's responsibilities.

The Committee is an established Quality Assurance Committee under Part 6 of the *Hospital and Health Boards Act* 2011.

### **Decision making**

- The Committee has no executive powers.
- The Committee is an advisory committee of the Board. In discharging its responsibilities, the Committee
  has the authority to:
  - recommend investigations into matters within its scope of responsibility
  - access information, records and personnel of the service and Health Department's Shared Service Provider for this purpose
  - request attendance of any employee, including executive staff, at committee meetings
  - o conduct meetings with internal and external auditors as necessary
  - seek advice from external parties as necessary
- Recommendations of the Committee will be regarded as its collective decision or advice unless there is material dissension.
- If consensus cannot be reached, the Chair reserves the right to escalate the matter to the Board. The minority view will be recorded in the minutes of the meeting and placed before the Board.
- Where the matter for consideration is beyond the scope of the Committee, the decision is to be referred to another committee, where relevant, or the Board.



# 3. Guiding Principles

The Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 and the Public Service Act 2008 provide the following principles intended to guide achievement of the Acts' objects. These principles guide all decisions of the Committee.

#### Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011

- the best interests of users of public sector health services should be the main consideration in all decisions and actions under this Act
- there should be a commitment to ensuring quality and safety in the delivery of public sector health services
- providers of public sector health services should work with providers of private sector health services to achieve coordinated, integrated health service delivery across both sectors
- there should be responsiveness to the needs of users of public sector health services about the delivery of public sector health services
- information about the delivery of public sector health services should be provided to the community in an open and transparent way
- there should be commitment to ensuring that places at which public sector health services are delivered are places at which –
  - o employees are free from bullying, harassment and discrimination
  - employees are respected and diversity is embraced
  - o there is a positive workplace culture based on mutual trust and respect
- there should be openness to complaints from users of public sector health services and a focus on dealing with the complaints quickly and transparently
- there should be engagement with clinicians, consumers and community members and local primary healthcare organisations in planning, developing and delivering public sector health services
- opportunities for research and development relevant to the delivery of public sector health services should be promoted
- opportunities for training and education relevant to the delivery of public sector health services should be promoted.

#### Public Service Act 2008

- public service management is directed towards providing responsive, effective and efficient services to the community and the Government
- impartiality and integrity is maintained when informing, advising and assisting the Government
- collaboration between Government and non-government sectors is fostered in providing services to the community
- there is commitment to continuously improving public service administration, performance management and service delivery
- public resources are managed efficiently, responsibly and in a fully accountable way
- the Government is promoted as an employer of choice
- equality of employment opportunity is promoted.

# 4. Functions

The Committee has the following functions:

- (a) advising the Board on matters relating to the safety and quality of health services provided by the service, including the service's strategies for the following—
  - (i) minimising preventable patient harm
  - (ii) reducing unjustified variation in clinical care
  - (iii) improving the experience of patients and carers of the service in receiving health services
  - (iv) complying with national and State strategies, policies, agreements and standards relevant to promoting consultation with health consumers and members of the community about the provision of health services by the service;

Examples of policies and standards—

the documents called 'National safety and quality health service standards' dated September 2011 and 'Australian charter of healthcare rights', published by the Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care the document called 'Queensland Health public patients' charter', published by the Department of Health

- (b) monitoring the service's governance arrangements relating to the safety and quality of health services, including by monitoring compliance with the service's policies and plans about safety and quality;
- (c) promoting improvements in the safety and quality of health services provided by the service;
- (d) monitoring the safety and quality of health services being provided by the service using appropriate indicators developed by the service;
- (e) overseeing the assessment and evaluation of the quality of health services, the reporting and making of recommendations concerning those services and monitoring the implementation of its recommendations;
- (f) collaborating with other safety and quality committees, the department and State-wide quality assurance committees in relation to the safety and quality of health services;
- (g) any other function given to the committee by the service's board, if the function is not inconsistent with a function mentioned in paragraphs (a) to (g).

Example of a function for paragraph (g) — overseeing workplace health and safety practices in the service

# 5. Risk Management

A proactive approach to risk management will underpin the business of the Committee. The Committee will:

- · identify risks and mitigating strategies associated with all decisions made
- implement processes to enable the committee to identify, monitor and manage critical risks as they relate to the functions of the Committee.

#### 6. Sub-Committees

The Chair of the Committee has the authority to create relevant sub-committees or other subordinate bodies deemed necessary to assist the Committee in discharging its responsibilities.

# 7. Reporting

The Committee will prepare prompt and timely reports to the Board outlining relevant matters that have been considered by it, as well as the Committee's opinions and recommendations thereon. The Chair will report to the Board on a regular basis.

The Committee will provide the following to the Board:

- Annual meeting schedule
- Confirmed meeting minutes following each meeting

The Committee will receive the following reports as standing items:

- Safety and Quality Report
- External Reviews and Actions
- Occupational Health and Safety Report
- Legal Claims Report

The Committee may also receive reports on an 'as needs' basis, where the report is relevant to the Committee's functions. Reports are to be provided to the secretariat no later than eight days prior to the meeting for inclusion in the meeting pack for Committee members.

# 8. Membership

Membership is determined by the Board. Members, including the Chair, will include at least two members of the Board, or, where the necessary skills do not exist on the Board, the Board may appoint an external member of the Committee.

If the Chair is absent from a meeting or vacates the Chair at a meeting, the Chair must appoint another member to act as the Chair on a temporary basis.

#### Standing invites

The following positions will be invited to attend each meeting:

- Health Service Chief Executive
- Executive Director Operations
- Executive Director Clinical Governance, Safety, Quality and Risk
- Executive Director Clinical Services
- Executive Director Medical Services
- Executive Director Allied Health
- Executive Director Nursing and Midwifery Services
- Executive Director Surgery
- Chief Finance Officer (incorporates workplace health and safety function)
- Head of Legal Services

#### **Proxies**

Proxies are only able to attend if approved by the Chair. Proxies are to be notified to the Secretariat prior to the meeting, and be fully orientated by the member. The Secretariat will ensure all proxies are formally made aware of the confidentiality and privacy obligations of the quality assurance committee.

# 9. Other participants

The Chair may request service health executives, employees or external parties to attend a meeting of the Committee. However, such persons do not assume membership or participate in any decision-making processes of the Committee. All invited guests will be orientated to the confidentiality and privacy requirements incumbent upon Committee functions by the Secretariat.

Clinical expertise and representatives will be requested to attend as required to inform decisions and discussion as required.

#### 10. Quorum

A quorum will comprise the number equal to one-half of the number of formal members, including the Chair. If one-half of the number of its members is not a whole number, the next highest whole number.

#### 11. Out-of-session Papers

Urgent matters can be progressed out-of-session with the agreement of the Chair.

#### 12. Performance

The Committee will undertake an annual self-assessment of its performance to ensure that the Committee remains fit for purpose and to identify and action any areas in which the effectiveness of the Committee could be improved. The Committee will provide a report on the annual review of performance and achievements to the Board.

Periodically, the Chair will discuss professional development and training needs for all members of the Committee. When training needs are identified, the Secretariat will make the arrangements for registration and payment.

#### 13. Ethical Practices

To meet the ethical obligations under the *Health and Hospitals Boards Act 2011* and the *Public Sector Ethics Act 1994*, Committee members must declare any conflicts of interest whether actual, potential, apparent, or appear likely to arise, and manage those in consultation with the Chair.

Members will at all times in the discharge of their duties and responsibilities, exercise honesty, objectivity, independence and probity and not engage knowingly in acts of activities that have the potential to discredit the service.

Members will refrain from entering into any activity that may prejudice their ability to carry out their duties and responsibilities objectively and will, at all times, act in a proper and prudent manner in the use of information acquired in the course of their duties. Members will not use the service's information for personal gain for themselves or their immediate families or in any manner that would be contrary to law or detrimental to the welfare and goodwill of the service. Further, members must not publicly comment on matters related to activities of the Committee other than as authorised by the Governing Board.

# 14. Confidentiality and Privacy

Members of the Committee may from time-to-time be in receipt of information that is regarded as 'commercial in confidence', clinically confidential or have privacy implications. Members acknowledge their responsibility to maintain confidentiality of all information that is not in the public domain. Members will maintain the committee papers in a confidential manner separate from any other business or responsibilities of the member.

The Metro North Board Safety and Quality Committee is an authorised Quality Assurance Committee under the *Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011* (the Act), as authorised by the Chief Executive. Members must not disclose to someone else information acquired by the person as a member of the committee, other than for those purposes specifically outlined in section 84 of the Act. Furthermore, the Act outlines specific protections for documents and information that are application to the functions of the Committee and members.

In accordance with section 84 of the Act, the Committee, or Chair of the Committee, may approve the release of information acquired by the Committee for the purposes of:

- Exercising their functions of the Committee
- Mandatory reporting to Australian Health Practitioners Regulation Agenda
- Providing information to a prescribed Patient Safety Entity
- Providing information to another Quality Assurance Committee where the information is relevant to that Committee's functions.

Requests for the provision of documents prepared for the Committee should be directed to the Chair in the first instance. The Committee may agree to provide a copy of any document that has been prepared for the Committee, as a Quality Assurance Committee under Part 6 of the Act pursuant to section 84 of the Act, where the Committee believes that doing so is reasonably necessary to facilitate quality improvement in accordance with the functions of the Committee. The decision must be documented in the minutes. The Chair may make a decision to provide the documents without consideration of other Committee members if, in doing so, it is necessary to facilitate and not delay quality improvement. The Chair must advise members of this decision which should be documented in the minutes of the Committee meeting following the decision. Requests for documents made to the secretariat will be managed in accordance with legislative requirements of the Act and associated Regulations.

Additional guidelines regarding the Committee's confidential obligations as a Quality Assurance Committee are outlined in **Appendix A** (Quality Assurance Committees Confidentiality Obligations).

**Appendix B** is the written privacy policy of the quality assurance committee, and states the ways the Committee, or a member of the Committee, will acquire, compile, store and disclose relevant information.

#### 15. Secretariat

Secretariat support will be provided by the Board Secretary or another officer. The Secretariat will be responsible for the preparation and circulation of the meeting agenda and accurately minuting all decisions of the Committee, in consultation with the Chair. The Secretariat will also be responsible for the timely tabling of all correspondence, reports and other information relevant to the Committee's activities. The Secretariat is responsible for the maintenance of information systems which ensure confidentiality of all Committee documents in accordance with the Metro North Quality Assurance Committee Privacy Policy (Appendix B).

# 16. Meeting Schedule

Meetings will be held at least four times a year. In addition, the Chair may call additional meetings as necessary to address any matters referred to the Committee or in respect of matters the Committee wishes to pursue within the terms of reference.

## 17. Business Rules

As per the Metro North Board Charter, which provides the corporate governance framework for the authority, role, operation, membership, functions and responsibilities of the Board.

Procedures of the Committee are conducted in accordance with Part 5 Division 2 of the *Hospital and Health Board Regulation 2012*.

# **Appendix A: Quality Assurance Committees (QAC's) Confidentiality Obligations**

QAC's established pursuant to Part 6 of the *Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011* (Qld) ("HHB Act") are bound by strict confidentiality obligations. These obligations apply to both QAC members and relevant persons for the QAC. Relevant persons are individuals authorised to help the QAC to perform its functions, including providing administrative or secretarial services, advising the QAC about the performance of its functions, or preparing reports and other information for the QAC.

# **Exceptions to the Prohibition of Disclosure**

QAC members are prohibited from disclosing information acquired in the course of their involvement in QAC activities, except in the following circumstances:

#### For the purpose of exercising their functions as QAC members

Reference should be made to the QAC's Terms of Reference to identify the QAC's functions. For example, if the purpose of the disclosure is in order to make safety and quality improvements, which is a function of the QAC, documentation and information can be disclosed to relevant persons so that improvements can be made and learnings actioned. This would include Executive Directors, Nursing Directors (where relevant to the matter) and Safety and Quality Officers.

### Providing information to another QAC

Information can be provided if the information is relevant to that QAC's functions. For example, information can be shared from a Complex Case Committee (QAC) to a Critical Incident Committee (QAC) for the purpose of patient safety or improvements.

#### **Providing information to a prescribed Patient Safety Entity**

Information can be provided if the information is for an authorised purpose of the Patient Safety Entity. A prescribed Patient Safety Entity includes the administrative unit of the department and each Safety and Quality Committee established by the Board. Therefore disclosure can be made to a Patient Safety Unit of the Department of Health, or a Hospital and Health Service's Safety and Quality Committee.

The Health Ombudsman is not a prescribed Patient Safety Entity.

# Reporting a reasonable belief of public risk notifiable conduct to the Australian Health Practitioner Regulation Agency (AHPRA)

This provision only applies to registered health practitioner QAC members. Public risk notifiable conduct includes conduct where the practitioner has placed the public at risk of substantial harm in the practitioner's practice of the profession because the practitioner has impairment, or has practised the profession in a way that constitutes a significant departure from accepted professional standards.

Impairment is defined in the *Health Practitioner Regulation National Law (Queensland)* as a physical or mental impairment, disability, condition or disorder (including substance abuse or dependence) that detrimentally affects or is likely to affect the person's capacity to practice the profession.

#### To comply with the requirements of an inspector.

Information must be provided if the requirements of an inspector relate to an offence under Part 6, Division 1 of the HHB ACT. This division deals with the obligations of QAC's, for example breach of confidentiality provisions.

# Under a Regulation made pursuant to section 91 of the HHB ACT

Section 91 allows for Parliament to pass further regulations setting out circumstances in which a QAC is allowed or required to make specific information available to the public and permitting or requiring QAC's to provide reports or information to the Minister, Chief Executive or another entity.

Exercising any of these exceptions to disclosure should be at the discretion of, or in consultation with the QAC, or the Chair of the QAC.

## **Protection Afforded to QAC's**

A report or other document created by or for a QAC, information contained in a report or other document created by or for a QAC, or information acquired by a person as a member or relevant person of the QAC cannot be:

- Accessed under any order, whether of a judicial or administrative nature (which includes a direction or other process); and
- Is not admissible in any proceeding (which includes a civil proceeding, a criminal proceeding, or a proceeding under the *Health Practitioner Regulation National Law* (Queensland).

Neither a QAC member nor a Relevant Person for a QAC can be called to produce documents or give evidence in any legal proceedings (civil proceeding, criminal proceeding, or disciplinary proceeding) about information that came to their knowledge as a QAC member or a Relevant Person for a QAC.

Therefore if a demand for documentation is made pursuant to other legislation, disclosure can be refused.

#### **Committee members or Relevant Persons**

QAC members or Relevant Persons cannot be held civilly liable for acts done or omissions made honestly and without negligence in their functions as a QAC member or a Relevant Person for the QAC.

#### Persons who assist QAC's

Persons who assist a QAC and provide information to a QAC are protected also. A person, who honestly and on reasonable grounds gives information to a QAC for the QAC's functions, is not subject to any liability for giving the information.

A person cannot be compelled to divulge or communicate in a proceeding, or in compliance with a requirement under an Act or legal process, any of the following:

- Whether or not the person gave information to a QAC or a Relevant Person for a QAC:
- Information the person gave to a QAC or a Relevant Person for a QAC;
- A document given by the person to a QAC or a Relevant Person for a QAC that was created by the person or another person for the QAC;
- Information the person was given, or questions the person was asked, by a QAC or a Relevant Person for a QAC.

Therefore, information acquired or documents created for the sole purpose of reporting to QAC's will be protected from disclosure and the QAC cannot be compelled to produce documents except in the circumstances previously outlined.

## Relevant organisations to which QAC's cannot provide information or documentation

QAC's cannot provide information or documentation to:

- The Office of the Health Ombudsman:
- AHPRA, except for public risk notifiable conduct. In addition, information or documents held by the QAC are not admissible in any disciplinary proceedings; and
- · The Coroner.

The Right to Information Act 2009 (QLD) exempts QAC's from right to information applications.

## Disclosure of information by a QAC

A report furnished, or information made available by a QAC, must be de-identified, unless the provider or recipient of health services has consented in writing to that disclosure pursuant to section 83(2) of the HHB Act.

# **Appendix B: Quality Assurance Committee Privacy Policy**

The following information outlines the requirements for a quality assurance committee to have a written privacy policy in accordance with Part 5 Division 3 of the *Hospital and Health Boards Regulation 2012*.

This policy applies to all established quality assurance committees within Metro North Hospital and Health Service, and should be retained as an appendix to the approved Terms of Reference.

This policy complies with the Information Privacy Act 2009 and the Privacy Act 1988 (Cwlth).

Within this policy, 'relevant information' means information acquired or compiled by the committee in the exercise of its functions.

Acquire and compile relevant information	The secretariat will ensure the acquiring and compiling of information required for the committee to exercise its functions, is in accordance with quality assurance committee confidentiality and privacy provision (including confidentiality disclaimer on agenda and minute templates)  Committee members are orientated to the provisions of confidentiality and privacy, in line with requirements of relevant Acts.
Securely store relevant information	The secretariat will maintain records within a secure drive, ensuring appropriate authorisation and governance in relation to access.  The secretariat will keep the minutes of a meeting of a committee for 10 years after the meeting in accordance with s21 of the Regulation.
Disclose relevant information	In accordance with Part 6 s84 of the Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011.
Ask an individual for consent to disclose the individual's identity under section 83 (2) of the Act	The committee secretariat, under the authorisation of the committee Chair must request consent in writing to an individual and the individual must provide consent in writing.  An email is considered 'writing' for the purposes of providing consent and maintaining records.  The secretariat must maintain the record of consent as part of the committee document management and retention.
Circumstances under which a record containing relevant information may be copied or destroyed	The secretariat will comply with circumstances as outlined in the <i>Public Records Act 2002</i> , and other relevant legislation and regulation as appropriate within the <i>Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011</i> , the <i>Coroner's Act 2003</i> , and the <i>Health Ombudsman Act 2013</i> .